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FOREWORD


by Robert Blake





History does not consist of a body of received opinion handed down by authority from the historiographical equivalent of the heights of Mount Sinai. It is a subject full of vigour, controversy, life – and sometimes strife. One of the purposes of the Paladin History of England is to convey not only what the authors believe to have happened but also why; to discuss evidence as well as facts; to give an idea and an evaluation of the controversies which surround so many episodes and interpretations of the past.


The last twenty years have seen important changes in the approach to history and to historical questions. There has also been much painstaking research which throws new light on old problems and brings new problems into the field of discussion. Little of all this has so far got through to the general reader because it has been, naturally, confined to specialist journals and monographs. A real need exists for a series of volumes to inform the wide public interested in the history of England, and this is what the Paladin volumes are intended to meet.


All history is in one sense contemporary history. These volumes inevitably and rightly reflect to some extent the outlook of those who, whatever their own age, are writing in the 1980s. But there are in any decade a wide variety of attitudes and schools of thought. The authors of this series are not chosen to represent a particular body of doctrine; conservative, liberal, Marxist – or whatever. They are scholars who are deeply involved in the historical questions of their particular fields, and who believe that it is possible to put across something of the challenges, puzzles and excitements of their theme to a large audience in a form which is readable, intelligible and concise.


All historical writing must in some measure be arbitrary as to dates and selective as to area. The dates chosen in this series do not depart far from convention but perhaps just enough to encourage both author and reader to take a fresh view. The decision to make this a history of England, rather than Britain, is quite deliberate. It does not mean omission of the important repercussions of events in Scotland, Ireland, Wales or the countries which later constituted the Empire and the Commonwealth; rather a recognition that, whether for good or ill, the English have been the dominant nation in what Tennyson called ‘our rough island-story’, and that a widening of the scope would lead to diffuseness and confusion.


Historical writing also has to be selective as to themes. Each author uses his own judgement here, but, although politics, ideas, art and literature must always be central features in any work of general history, economic background, social structure, demography, scientific and technical developments are no less important and must be given proper weight.


All sorts of reasons can be given for reading history, but the best of them has always seemed to me sheer pleasure. It is my hope as editor of this series that this enjoyment will be communicated to a large number of people who might otherwise perhaps have never experienced it.



















INTRODUCTION





The previous volume of this series, Richard Shannon’s The Crisis of Imperialism, ended in May 1915 with the fall of the last purely Liberal government in the history of England. This one takes the story from then to October 1964 when the thirteen years of Conservative rule since 1951 came to an end and Harold Wilson’s Labour Party scraped home by a narrow margin. All historiographical divisions by date are to some extent arbitrary, and these are no exceptions. Nevertheless, a historian, even if he is writing the history of the world, has to begin and end somewhere. The dates chosen do perhaps symbolize one feature of the book. It is essentially political history, not economic, technological, social, artistic or cultural. This is not because the author regards these aspects of history as trivial or unimportant – far from it – but because political history which includes the history of war, the continuation of politics by other means, happens to be the subject which interests him most. This volume is therefore mainly concerned with party politics, the constitutional framework within which politicians operated and the events and repercussions of two world wars in terms of Britain’s status as a great and imperial power.


When the story outlined in this book begins, Britain was a world power of the first magnitude, the centre of an immense empire spread all over the globe. The retention of that empire depended basically upon sea power, and it was the German naval challenge which was the fundamental reason for Britain declaring war. The Belgian guarantee gave moral colour to the declaration and made it easier for the pacifistically inclined wings of the Liberal and Labour parties to support it, but the violation of Belgian neutrality was not the principal cause of Britain’s entry, any more than the German invasion of Poland was the principal cause of the declaration of war in 1939. In both cases what was at issue – or seemed to be – was the survival of Britain as a great imperial power.


In fact, as we can now see, the era of the sea-borne empires was coming to an end. Sea power still mattered. It mattered as late as 1982 when Britain recovered the Falkland Islands. But power, throughout the half-century covered by this book, was shifting from the countries that depended for strength on their navies – Britain above all others – to countries which encompassed the great land masses. The importance of the European ‘heartland’ and the impending transformation of the balance of power was first perceived by a Briton, Sir Halford Mackinder. His book Democratic Ideals and Reality, published in 1919, had little impact in his home country but it was closely studied by General Karl Haushofer, a leading exponent of the school of Geopolitik and through him had much influence on Hitler. For a number of technological reasons the future lay with the great continental powers. It was Germany’s bid to control the ‘heartland’ of Europe – the vast territories ruled by Russia – which caused the Second World War. Hitler’s failure left the two great continental states, America and Russia, confronting one another, with China an uneasy third in the balance of world power. The era of the sea-borne powers had vanished by the early 1960s. Of all the many changes which occurred during the period, this was the one which affected Britain most profoundly. It is the justification of the tide of this book.
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Chapter One


THE FIRST WAR COALITION





1


‘The disintegration of the Liberal Party is complete,’ wrote Sir Charles Hobhouse, one of the sacked ministers, in his diary on 23 May 1915. ‘We shall not return to power for some years and only then because Labour is as broken as ourselves. Lloyd George and his Tory friends will soon get rid of Asquith.’1 The prediction was partly correct. Asquith was manoeuvred out of office barely over a year and a half later and replaced by Lloyd George with Conservative support. The old Liberal Party disintegrated but Hobhouse was over-optimistic in believing that the divisions of the Labour Party would cause it to reunite. The Liberals never held office on their own again. It was Labour which, for all its disorder, lived to fight another day and become the alternative party of government.


Professor Shannon has mentioned some of the reasons for Asquith’s sudden decision to reconstruct his ministry on a coalition basis.2 The scandal of the shell shortage on the western front, the disasters of the Dardanelles, Lord Fisher’s resignation as First Sea Lord, Conservative distrust of Winston Churchill (shared by many Liberals too), combined to make it impossible for Bonar Law, the Conservative leader, to keep his followers in their silent role since August 1914 as a ‘patriotic opposition’. The only choice was confrontation or coalition. Much historiographical ink has been spent in disputing which of all these problems determined the issue. There is, however, an even more important point to consider. If Asquith had led from strength he might have been ready to face a reversion to pre-war parliamentary conflict, but in fact his hand was weak. Behind the other causes for his decision lay an even more cogent reason. Under the Parliament Act a general election was due to be held at latest in January 1916. In the existing House Asquith was unlikely to be defeated, even if deserted by Irish and Labour MPs, because more Conservative than Liberal members were on active service, but if he had to go to the polls the prospect was very different. His chances of victory were remote, and in the new circumstances only a coalition could avert a general election.3


It is by no means the case that a general election was impracticable in either of the two world wars. The Americans, as their constitution necessitated, held congressional and presidential elections in the Second World War. In fact, in Britain a party concordat resulted, during 1914–18 and again during 1939–45, in the suspension of the Parliament Act, but no such agreement had been reached in May 1915. On separate occasions later both Asquith and Bonar Law mooted the possibility of a dissolution. It was a move that certainly could not be ruled out by political calculators, but at this juncture Asquith had no intention of risking it if he could avoid it.


He had not always viewed the effect of war on his political fortunes with such pessimism. In a curious playlet written for his own amusement only a few weeks earlier he apostrophized himself as he had been in August 1914: ‘You were almost a classic example of Luck … above all (at a most critical and fateful moment in your own career) in the sudden outbreak of the Great War.’4 The war had undoubtedly extricated the Prime Minister and his party from a domestic situation of the greatest difficulty. Apart from a host of other threats, there was a real possibility of civil strife in Ulster. But this stroke of ‘luck’ depended for success upon another to follow it; a short, sharp, victorious campaign in which Germany was quickly beaten to its knees by the conscript armies of France and Russia and in which Britain played a mainly naval role in support. Asquith would then have been on the top of the wave.


Events had not turned out that way. By the summer of 1915 it was clear that the war was going to be a long one, and the longer it lasted the more damaging would be its effect on the Liberals. The values for which the party stood might have survived a rapid war fought by volunteer forces on the basis of ‘business as usual’. They could not survive the stresses of stalemate and the necessities of the first ‘total’ war in modern history. The Liberals had been deeply divided about intervening at all. It was they, not the Conservatives, who needed the moral outrage of the invasion of Belgium to justify hostilities. Even so, two members of the Cabinet resigned. The Conservatives had pressed for intervention from the very beginning on grounds of realpolitik and the balance of power.


The Liberals were traditionally the party of freedom of speech, conscience and trade. They were against jingoism, heavy armaments and compulsion. They recognized that some of these ideals would have to be relinquished in war. But the abandonment of them, even temporarily, was painful. Liberals were neither wholehearted nor unanimous about conscription, censorship, the Defence of the Realm Act, severity towards aliens and pacifists, direction of labour and industry. The Conservatives – ‘the patriotic party’ ever since the duel between Disraeli and Gladstone – had no such misgivings. There were even some of them, who, taking Milner as their political and Kipling as their spiritual mentor, positively welcomed the more draconian aspects of wartime legislation. They regarded many of Britain’s pre-war ills as by-products of Liberal ‘softness’. Not all went as far as that, but the party would have exploited the patriotic cry to the full in a general election which they would certainly have won easily.


Among the Liberals, Lloyd George had emerged as the leader of those who believed in all-out war. He became aligned with the Conservative ‘hawks’. Asquith could not be called a ‘dove’. If he had been one, he might, as Professor Shannon suggests, have led ‘Liberalism in its natural bent, as Fox and Grey had done in the Revolutionary and Napoleonic Wars and as Campbell-Bannerman had done in 1900’. This would have involved seeking a compromise peace with Germany. Asquith never thought in such terms and he was right. From what we now know about the sort of conditions envisaged by the German government, it is clear that the idea was a delusion. Ironically, it was a former Conservative Foreign Minister, Lord Lansdowne, who took up the cause in 1916 and predictably got nowhere. To say this is not to deny that the world would have been a better place if the great powers had stopped slaughtering each other two years earlier – merely that there was no practical possibility of it happening.


Asquith wished to prosecute the war but he was curiously conservative in his methods while at the same time being much more anti-Conservative in the party sense than Lloyd George. The coalition was thus an uncomfortable affair. The Liberal ministers were on the defensive about their past record and resented the way old colleagues had been unceremoniously discarded, often under Conservative pressure – and in the case of Haldane without even the courtesy of a letter of regret from the Prime Minister. The Conservatives were just as prickly. They distrusted Asquith and hesitated to serve under him at all. The distribution of offices did not help. There were six that mattered in wartime. Of these, four – the premiership, Foreign Office, Exchequer and Munitions – were in the hands of Liberals. The War Office was held by a non-political figure, Kitchener. Only the Admiralty went to a Conservative but since Asquith’s choice fell on Balfour who had been driven out of the party leadership in 1911, the arrangement was not calculated to placate Tory amour propre. Bonar Law and Austen Chamberlain were respectively fobbed off with the colonies and India.


One consequence of the reconstruction was diffusion in the responsibility for directing the war. The constitutional and administrative problems thus raised were to be an important element in the controversies which led to Asquith’s downfall. From August to November 1914 the Cabinet had been the decisive body assuming all the powers of the Committee of Imperial Defence which went into virtual abeyance for the rest of the war. On 25 November a committee of the Cabinet known as the War Council was established. Its powers were never precisely defined. In theory it was subordinate to the Cabinet. In practice its decisions were acted upon and only reported to the Cabinet afterwards by Asquith. But the council met only when Asquith summoned it, and he did not do so regularly. There was a gap of eight weeks between March and May 1915. This was not accidental. It suited Asquith to conduct the war through an informal triumvirate, himself, Kitchener and Churchill.


Kitchener possessed immense authority. Munitions and recruitment came under his aegis as well as military strategy. As the senior serving field-marshal he behaved more like a commander-in-chief than a political minister obliged to take advice from the Army Council. When he visited the western front he wore uniform to the annoyance of Sir John French who saw it as an assertion of rank. His public prestige was enormous and everyone treated him with deference. Yet he had little or no idea what to do with his power. He lacked administrative skill and strategic vision. In the end he was a recruiting poster et praeterea nihil. Churchill for rather different reasons also enjoyed great power, a product of that restless questing energy which was to characterize the whole of his life. His weakness which he himself never saw was that the man in the Admiralty whom the public admired was the First Sea Lord, Lord Fisher, and not Churchill who was widely distrusted. When Fisher resigned over Gallipoli, Churchill was doomed.


The rule of the Asquith, Churchill, Kitchener triumvirate was bound to end with the creation of the coalition. Whatever the precise reasons for the fall of the last purely Liberal government, both the shell shortage and Fisher’s resignation evidently had some connection with it. The removal of munitions to a separate ministry under Lloyd George marked a first step in the break-up of Kitchener’s empire, but the old Field-Marshal had too much prestige for his dismissal to be contemplated. He remained at the War Office. Churchill had no such fund of support. The Conservatives made his removal from the Admiralty an absolute condition. He remained on the War Council with the sinecure office of Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster, an impotent spectator of events. Fisher, however, did not profit from the change. He put himself out of court by a megalomaniac letter to Asquith demanding ‘complete professional charge of the War at sea together with the absolute sole disposition of the Fleet and the appointments of all officers of all ranks whatsoever’.5


The war was to be conducted as before by a committee of the Cabinet. The old War Council was rechristened the Dardanelles Committee and in this guise it met for the first time on 7 June, nearly three weeks after the formation of the new government, in order to decide whether to reinforce the Gallipoli operation or cut the losses. Churchill maintained that this decision could have been taken on purely military grounds within forty-eight hours of a crucial telegram from Sir Ian Hamilton on 17 May asking for more troops, and that the delay was fatal. There has been much argument on this point. What is significant, however, from the procedural aspect is that the decision was not finally taken on 7 June but two days later; the delay probably made little difference, but the postponement was a symptom of the malady which now afflicted the conduct of war.


The old War Council and the triumvirate, though in theory supposed to refer back to the Cabinet, had in practice taken decisions which were executed at once. The new Dardanelles Committee was given no such latitude. The Conservatives were not in the mood to delegate any decisions to a committee. Theory now became practice and on 9 June the matter was fought out all over again in full Cabinet. Although the committee’s view that reinforcements should be sent to the Dardanelles was endorsed, the episode set a precedent. Throughout Asquith’s coalition almost every recommendation of the Dardanelles Committee (called the Cabinet War Committee from 2 November 1915), was rediscussed often at great length by the Cabinet. ‘Every military decision,’ wrote Churchill, ‘had to be carried by the same sort of process of tact, temporizing, and exhaustion which occurs over a clause in a keenly contested Bill in the House of Commons in time of peace.’6 It was not until Lloyd George became Prime Minister that a more streamlined process was introduced.


It is easy to make a cynical contrast between the setting of the political manoeuvres in London and the daily experiences of those who fought the war. We can see the butlers and footmen silently serving excellent meals; we can hear the pop of the champagne corks and smell the rich cigars with their blue smoke twisting and dissolving against the dark oak panelling. Asquith attended a fashionable wedding on the Saturday afternoon before the crisis, and drove out into the country for his usual weekend, where he had to be sought by Churchill with the news that Fisher’s resignation was final. Parliament, clubland, the town houses of the political grandees resounded with the busy hum of intrigue. The war had as yet made little impact on civilian life. It was a far cry to the shadeless torrid shores of Helles and Anzac. There life was grim enough even when a major offensive was not in progress. Men sweltered in the daily increasing heat, assailed by huge black swarms of fat flies which had feasted on rotting corpses; they were half choked by the fearful stench, they were short of water, ridden with disease and dysentery, tormented by lice. They were not short of food, but a diet of greasy bully beef followed by hard biscuits spread with plum and apple jam was not ideal when the temperature was 100 degrees in the shade, if any shade could be found. Such of the troops who thought at all about politics in London could, if they had ever read Dickens, be excused for recalling the passage in Bleak House where Lord Boodle says that the choice lies ‘between Lord Coodle and Sir Thomas Doodle – supposing it to be impossible for the Duke of Foodie to act with Goodle’ … and so on.


Yet the contrasts of war have always been like this. The army of the Grand Old Duke of York would not have marched up and down the hill any more efficiently if Pitt had given up port. The troops in the Dardanelles would have been no better off if Asquith had ceased to drink brandy and Bonar Law had abandoned cigars. The politicians manoeuvring for place were not necessarily self-seekers, any more than the men who fought at Suvla Bay were necessarily heroes. The politicians were for the most part patriots who wished to serve their country to the best of their ability in a desperate war; no politician worth his salt will believe that he can do this more effectively out of office than in. Moreover, it was not an affair of Boodle and Foodie; the personalities of those who held the key posts really did matter, and affected the fate of millions of men and women. What was lacking in Asquith’s new Cabinet was not a sense of duty or patriotism, but the cohesion which comes from mutual trust. This deficiency was a legacy of the bitter pre-war struggles over the Lloyd George budget, the House of Lords, Ulster and the Marconi scandal. The absence of comparable partisan animosity before 1939 partly explains why coalition came more easily in the Second World War and worked more harmoniously when it came.


2


The year 1915 saw a series of setbacks to the Allies in almost every theatre of war. The greatest of these for Britain was the failure of the Dardanelles Expedition; it had far-reaching effects on British strategical attitudes and it engendered a controversy which has gone on ever since. The removal of Churchill from the Admiralty did not result in the abandonment of the campaign. One can exaggerate his personal role – the more easily because he saw fit in retrospect to take an unnecessary degree of personal responsibility. He had not, originally, been in favour of it at all, preferring an amphibious assault on the north German coast. Asquith, Grey and Kitchener were keener on Gallipoli than he was, and it was Kitchener who pressed upon a then unwilling Churchill the original plan for an unsupported naval attack. Nor did Churchill have any responsibility for the ensuing military operations. Yet by some strange psychological quirk, as Martin Gilbert says in his great biography, ‘Because he was widely accused of having been responsible for the deaths at Gallipoli, he began to defend even those aspects of the attack which he had neither planned nor supported’. This puzzling and perverse ‘identification with failure’ did him lasting damage.


The Dardanelles Committee, despite the misgivings of Bonar Law and Lloyd George, agreed that a fresh attempt should be made to capture the peninsula. Early in August Hamilton launched a new offensive; it involved a diversionary attack on Suvla Bay where the commanding officer, Sir Frederick Stopford, displayed an ineptitude seldom equalled in the annals of the British army. After disastrous procrastination a desperate struggle for the heights took place. The heat was appalling, the casualties in proportion to numbers involved were immense, and the medical conditions for the wounded were deplorable. The Turks held firm and the offensive was a total failure. Asquith wrote to Kitchener: ‘I have read enough to satisfy me that the Generals and Staff engaged in the Suvla part of the business ought to be court martialled and dismissed from the Army.’7 Stopford was removed and the writing was on the wall for Hamilton.


The anti-Dardanelles party now moved into the ascendant. Led by Bonar Law and Lloyd George they pressed for the liquidation of the enterprise. On 14 October Hamilton was superseded by Sir Charles Monro. He arrived a fortnight later with instructions to report whether to evacuate or reinforce the army in Gallipoli. ‘He came, he saw, he capitulated,’ wrote Winston Churchill in his memoirs – a neat phrase, but an indefensible judgement. Monro risked his whole career by his response which was hastened by a peremptory message from Kitchener who expected a very different answer, and his recommendation for evacuation was undoubtedly correct. There were no troops available for reinforcement. Two divisions had actually been moved from Gallipoli to Salonika in response to Bulgarian entry into the war on the side of the central powers; and in France the battle of Loos was in full swing. Monro was not, as alleged by the Dardanellians, a block-headed ‘Westerner’, nor had he made up his mind in advance. His report settled the question despite great anxiety about the possible losses involved. Asquith reconstituted the Dardanelles Committee early in November under the title of the Cabinet War Committee, dropping Churchill who resigned to take command of a batallion in France. Despite a last-minute plea by the Dardanellians for a renewed naval action and despite gloomy prophecies from Curzon – ‘hecatombs of the slain’ – the army was evacuated from Suvla Bay and Anzac in December and from Helles in January without any losses at all. It was a notable triumph of skilled deception; but, as the generation which saw Dunkirk was to know, wars are not won by evacuations however well arranged.


The campaign had lasted eight and a half months. In the words of its latest historian it ‘ended in a tactical draw; regarded strategically, it was a major defeat for the Allies’.8  Casualty figures are estimates, and particularly uncertain in the case of the Turks whose official figures are certainly too low. The best guess is some 265,000 on the Allies’ side, of whom 46,000 were killed or died. Turkish casualties were probably rather higher, around 300,000.9


Because of the high hopes and cruel disappointments, the narrow margins between defeat and victory, the theatrical setting and superb scenery, the spectacle of the great ships firing, ‘the smell of thyme mixed with the reek of cordite’, and also because of a certain self-contained dramatic unity, this disastrous episode in the history of British arms has never been lost to British memory. The extraordinary personalities involved – Kitchener, Churchill, Fisher, even Ian Hamilton himself – have also contributed to its immortality. Rupert Brooke died on his way to the battle. John Masefield described it in splendid prose. Although the conditions under which men fought were just as terrible as on the western front, the campaign has never quite acquired the sinister aura of the Somme and Passchendaele.


Controversy about it has, however, raged ever since. A Royal Commission under Lord Cromer was appointed in 1916 to investigate the failure. Its evidence was never published, but its findings promulgated early in 1917 were clear and critical: the operation had been ill-conceived and ineptly executed, and the losses were not justified. Churchill came out of it quite well, but Asquith badly. For many years afterwards the majority of informed opinion was hostile to the whole operation, but Churchill’s memoirs, and Hamilton’s misleadingly described Gallipoli Diary did something to redress the balance.10 Moreover, the issue became confused with another – the merits of the strategy and tactics of the armies in the west. As the public began to learn in the 1920s of the full horrors, hitherto concealed, of trench warfare in France, the conduct of the British and French High Commands came under increasing criticism. The main argument then used for Gallipoli was that the Allies had narrowly failed in a campaign which would have brought munitions to hard-pressed Russia, rallied the Balkan states against the central powers, and led to a victorious mobile war in east central Europe, thus sparing the western Allies the years of deadlock and carnage in France. One can see at once, however, that the two issues are not the same. It is possible to be critical of the way the French and British military leaders fought in the west, without necessarily agreeing that the diversion of substantial forces to Gallipoli from the one front where total disaster could have occurred was a justifiable risk.


The historiographical dispute reflected the wartime dispute between the ‘Easterners’, led by Lloyd George and Churchill (though they differed on which part of the east to go for), and the ‘Westerners’ led by Haig and Robertson, backed by Asquith, and of course overwhelmingly supported by the French. Was there ‘a way round’ which would avoid the confrontation in north-eastern France? Could one bring down Germany by a ‘strategy of indirect approach’, knocking away the ‘props’, i.e. the lesser allies which supported her? Gallipoli was the one attempt to do so. The rival historians in the inter-war years emerged with honours roughly even. The memoirs of Churchill and Lloyd George were more eloquent, the Official History was more weighty. More recently, however, opinion has tended to come down on the side of the ‘Westerners’, perhaps because of a second world war which was won only by beating the Germans in the field.


What verdict can be given now? None with confidence for there is no answer to the ‘ifs’ of history. A more steely commander might have won the day. Hamilton was too ‘literary’, too detached, too charming, too unwilling to interfere, and above all too anxious to please Kitchener whom he did not badger enough for reinforcements and to whom he reported always in colours of rose. Even so it was very close. A marginal change in the course of events could easily have resulted in the Turks being driven from Gallipoli. Yet one should not forget the converse – an equally marginal change the other way, and the British might have been driven into the sea.


What would have happened if the peninsula had been taken and British warships had gone through to the Golden Horn? It is far from certain that the Turks would have capitulated. Nor, if they had, is it at all obvious where the supplies to rearm Russia would have come from. And even if munitions had been found, would a rearmed Russia really have gained victory without tears – or with fewer tears – on the eastern front? One cannot be sure, but the ‘ifs’ mount up. Perhaps the answer to Gallipoli and indeed to the whole strategic controversy is given, ironically, by Churchill himself in a letter to Fisher on 4 January 1915. At that time, by a curious inversion of their later roles, the First Sea Lord was pressing for an attack on Turkey while the First Lord was hesitant and doubtful. Churchill wrote: ‘I would not begrudge  100,000 men because of the great political effects in the Balkan peninsula: but Germany is the foe, and it is bad war to seek cheaper victories and easier antagonists.’11


3


In reality the decision for an all-out commitment to the western front had been taken four months before the evacuation of the Dardanelles by Kitchener who only informed the Cabinet afterwards. In August 1915 on his own authority he pledged Britain to a major offensive in support of Joffre. In a sense this was merely the logical result of the pre-war plan to fight on the French left flank, implemented at the outbreak of war. But that commitment had not been regarded, even if it should have been, as inevitable. The War Council on 13 January 1915 resolved that, if there was a stalemate in the west, ‘British troops should be despatched to another theatre and another objective’. Gallipoli showed that this was not mere verbiage, and by the early summer there did appear to be stalemate in northern France.


Kitchener, however, believed – and so did Joffre – that Russia might be knocked out completely unless something was done in the west. The German summer eastern offensive had inflicted losses in prisoners and casualties of some 2 million. Kitchener also believed privately that, unless the British Army backed Joffre to the full, a government bent on negotiating a compromise peace would come into power in Paris. He was acutely conscious of the enormous casualties incurred by the French in their offensive in the first few weeks of the war, some 600,000. Few people in Britain knew about these figures but those who did felt continuously uneasy about the reliability of the French Army. On 19 August Kitchener told Sir Douglas Haig whose 1st Army would be the vehicle for any British attack: ‘We must … do our utmost to help the French even though by so doing we suffered very heavy casualties indeed.’12 Neither Haig nor Sir John French was happy about the sector chosen or the readiness of their troops, but they felt obliged to conform. From then onwards there was no going back. Britain had to fight in France if France was to go on fighting at all. The campaign known as the battle of Loos was launched on 26 September in support of Joffre’s offensives in Artois and Champagne. Largely because Sir John French kept the reserves under his own command and sent them up far too late, the British attack failed with some 60,000 casualties to Germany’s 20,000. The French attacks on a much larger scale also failed, though the relative casualty lists, 190,000 to 120,000, were not so unfavourable. The onset of bad weather brought the battle to an end in mid-October.


Gallipoli and France were not the only scenes of Allied failure. The Italians, who had entered the war on 24 May on the Allied side, launched a series of offensives against the Austrians on the Isonzo, but got nowhere. In Mesopotamia, General Townshend’s force instead of capturing Baghdad was beleaguered at Kut with doubtful prospects of relief. In the Balkans, Bulgaria had entered on the German side, the pro-Allied government of Venizelos in Greece had fallen, and Serbia had been overrun. On the eastern front the Russians had sustained the catastrophic reverse already mentioned, when Falkenhayn’s armies broke through at Gorlice.


These setbacks resulted in a major reorganization of the system of command. Those in the know were well aware of Kitchener’s deficiencies, but it was still considered too risky to sack him. Asquith resolved instead to enhance the powers of the Chief of the Imperial General Staff. That office until October 1915 had been held by a nonentity, General Wolfe Murray (described as ‘Sheep’ Murray by Churchill). He was confusingly succeeded by another Murray, Sir Archibald, who also carried little weight. Now in December Asquith decided to bring Sir William Robertson, French’s Chief of Staff, back to Whitehall to replace Sir Archibald Murray. Robertson, who had risen from the ranks, was one of the ablest and most formidable officers in the British Army. At the same time, Sir John French, who had done himself no good by trying to put the blame on Haig for the handling of the reserves at Loos, was removed, given a peerage and made Commander-in-Chief of Home Forces. Haig succeeded him in France. He and Robertson worked closely together and did much to prime Asquith; they were determined that the CIGS should replace the War Secretary as principal military adviser to the government with direct access to the War Committee. The new terms were put in writing and accepted reluctantly by Kitchener. From May to December 1915 Kitchener and Churchill (who was still vociferous despite loss of executive office) had fought a losing battle against Bonar Law and Lloyd George, the principal issue being Gallipoli versus the western front. Asquith acted as a sort of umpire. Now a new element was injected. Throughout 1916 control lay with Asquith, Robertson and Haig. The change represented a triumph for ‘Westerners’ against ‘Easterners’. The failure of the Dardanelles expedition was a fatal blow to those who believed in a strategy of indirect approach or, as their opponents said, ‘side-shows’. Haig and Robertson were convinced that the war could be won only by defeating the German Army in the field, which meant in France. Despite attempts at diversion, their view prevailed. Whether or not they were right has been a matter of controversy ever since.


Before considering events in the west we should not forget ‘the forgotten war’ – the campaign known colloquially as ‘Mespot’. Mesopotamia (modern Iraq) constituted one of the predominantly Arab provinces of the vast sprawling empire of the Ottoman Turks. Both this and the later campaign in Palestine had an historical importance greater than their influence on the war or the numbers involved. They were the origins of the last great extension of the British Empire – an extension which was to have significant effects on foreign and defence policy during the inter-war years and indeed beyond. The encirclement of General Townshend’s force at Kut stemmed from an imprudent addition to a prudent strategic purpose – the protection of British oil interests in the Persian Gulf. The changeover from coal to oil firing made this vital for the navy. Although the oilfields and refinery were in neutral territory, no one doubted that, if they could, the Turks certainly would cut the pipeline from southern Persia to Abadan. It therefore made good sense for the government of India to send a division (mixed British and Indian) to seize the Turkish port of Basra in November 1914, and it also made good sense to capture two key approaches further up the two vast rivers, Tigris and Euphrates, which converged in the Persian Gulf and constituted both the sole means of communication and the source of drinking water in that desolate land. In the high summer of 1915 Generals Townshend and Gorringe by brilliant amphibious offensives captured Amara on the Tigris and Nasariyeh on the Euphrates.


The oilfields were now amply secured, and General Nixon, the Commander-in-Chief, would have been well advised to leave it at that. He was at the end of a long and very incompetently managed supply line and he ought to have realized that he had so far only encountered inferior troops Arab levies officered by Turks. But there is always some sort of argument for going on when the enemy is in retreat. The glittering prize of Baghdad – more glittering in prospect than reality – beckoned to Lord Hardinge, Viceroy of India, and to Nixon himself. At least it would be reasonable to advance another 120 miles to Kut-al-Amara which commanded an important water link between the two rivers, and then consider what to do next. On 20 August, with the hesitant assent of Austen Chamberlain at the India Office, the advance was authorized. It was a fatal decision.


In respect of climate, terrain and inhabitants alike, Mesopotamia was one of the most disagreeable countries in the world. It was absolutely flat and there was a perpetual mirage. For much of the summer it was flooded but, since the floods came not from rain but from distant melting snow, there was no relief from the heat which was intense, up to 120 degrees or more in the shade. It was impossible to sleep after 5 A.M.  The only consolation was that the heat reduced even the myriads of insects to temporary torpor. In late September the floods subsided, but it was still very hot and a furious wind would at any moment produce blinding dust storms. In the autumn the temperature could drop 50 degrees at night, and in winter, which was quite cold, sudden rain storms could convert the desert into gluey mud. There was a shortage of medical supplies, and comforts alleged in the press to be plentiful, such as spine protectors, ice, mineral waters and fresh vegetables, were non-existent. Heat-stroke, sun-stroke, enteric dysentery and scurvy were endemic. The local inhabitants, whom the British were supposed to be ‘liberating’, were of a piece with the country. The Marsh Arabs were a nation of robbers, cut-throats and corpse-despoilers who followed the flanks of the rival armies like packs of jackal, marginally assisting whichever side seemed to be winning. Into this dismal place, one of the hottest and unhealthiest on earth, Britain was to throw in the end some half a million men engaging about a tenth of that number of Turks.


Townshend captured Kut on 28 September. He was reluctant to go on without reinforcements, but Nixon insisted. In late November at Ctesiphon, some twenty-two miles from Baghdad, he met for the first time a force of real Turks in equal numbers and well dug in. He lost 4,500 casualties and retreated to Kut. The plight of the wounded both there and on the way back to Basra was appalling and the Crimean-type conditions later publicized in an official report caused a major scandal. Again overruled by Nixon, Townshend stayed in Kut to face a siege. All efforts at relief failed. Starved into submission he surrendered on 27 April 1916. There had been no comparable episode since Cornwallis at Yorktown. It was a blow to public morale in Britain. It would have been a greater blow if people had suspected the fate of the prisoners. The Turks of that time had an acute sense of hierarchy, but were barbarians at heart. Townshend was given every comfort. The 400 British and Indian officers had a bad time by normal standards, but most of them survived. The troops, however, suffered atrocious hardships, the mildest of which were the homosexual attentions of their guards forced on the younger men by threats and beating. They were marched for day after day in scorching heat. They were robbed, starved, flogged, left to die or clubbed to death. Of the 2,600 British Other Ranks, seventy per cent were killed or died and the same fate befell 2,500 out of 9,300 Indians.


The shock of Kut forced Whitehall to take over from India and to stop the campaign being run on a shoestring. The supply line was reorganized, railways and roads built, river steamers multiplied. Reinforcements were poured in. By the autumn of 1916 the new Commander-in-Chief, General Maude, had 150,000 men under his command and was poised to attack as soon as the order came. He was to do this with great success, but the humiliation of Kut has produced an almost traumatic oblivion about this strange campaign – the least known of all the ‘side-shows’ of war.
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Chapter Two


THE SOMME AND JUTLAND
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The war on the western front was unlike any before or since. After the race to the sea which ended in stalemate in November 1914, there was no chance of an outflanking movement by either side. The only possibility of success was to break through the enemy ‘line’ – a word which conceals more than it reveals. One sees a black line on the maps looking rather like a flattened S tilted to the left, running on a south-east to north-west axis from the frontier of neutral Switzerland to a point on the Belgian coast between Dunkirk and Nieuport. But large parts of it were regarded by both sides as hopeless places for launching an attack, for example the mountainous area full of deep valleys and forests south of Verdun, the similar terrain between the Aisne and the Oise, and the flooded land north of Ypres. In those sections of the inverted S the word ‘line’ is perhaps appropriate. But in the areas where fighting raged it is not. One has to envisage a belt some ten miles or more wide. It was described by Valentine Fleming (father of Peter, the explorer, and Ian of James Bond fame) in a vivid letter to Winston Churchill:




[It] is positively littered with the bodies of men and scarified with their rude graves; in which farms, villages and cottages are shapeless heaps of blackened masonry; in which fields, roads and trees are pitted and torn by shells and disfigured by dead horses, cattle, sheep and goats scattered in every attitude of repulsive distortion and dismemberment. Day and night … are made hideous by the incessant crash and whistle and roar of every sort of projectile, by sinister columns of smoke and flame, by the cries of wounded men …


Along this terrain of death stretch more or less parallel to each other lines of trenches, some 200, some 1,000 yards apart … In these trenches crouch lines of men in brown or grey or blue, coated with mud, unshaven, hollow-eyed with the continued strain, unable to reply to the everlasting rain of shells hurled at them from 3, 4 or 5 miles away and positively welcoming an infantry attack from one side or the other as a chance of meeting and matching themselves against human assailants and not against invisible, irresistible machines.1





The sense of being caught up in some vast impersonal disaster is a persistently recurrent theme in the literature and memoirs of the time. It was enhanced because in this unlike in almost every previous war, the South African war being an exception, one scarcely ever saw the enemy. Despite the emphasis in training on the use of the bayonet, man-to-man conflict was extremely rare. The invisibility of the foe was itself a result of the mechanization to which Valentine Fleming referred. Barbed wire, a comparatively recent American invention designed to keep in cattle, the machine-gun which was another American invention and artillery used on a scale never approached in the past, enforced a form of trench warfare unique in history. To appear above the ground in daylight near the enemy line was suicide.


Normally there were three lines of trenches – the front line, the support line and the reserve line – each separated by several hundred yards. These were the ‘firing’ trenches. They were six to eight feet deep and five feet wide with a parapet of sandbags two or three feet above ground level on the enemy side. There was a ‘fire step’ two feet or so above the bottom of the trench. Here the defenders were supposed to stand and shoot at the oncoming enemy. The trenches usually zigzagged to avoid the danger of enfilade fire if the enemy captured a section. Barbed wire in great rusty rolls which gave the front, as one observer noted, an appearance of everlasting autumn, was placed far enough away to prevent the attackers from lobbing grenades on to the occupants. The three lines were connected by communication trenches, and it was along these, normally at night, that the troops were relieved. The front line could be anything from fifty yards (in exceptional cases) to a mile from the German line. In between was no man’s land – a wilderness of wire, shell craters, corpses and debris of every sort. Into this were pushed more or less perpendicularly from the front line, shallower trenches known as ‘saps’. Designed to provide forward observation posts and machine-gun positions, they were not manned continuously and were often evacuated at night. Behind the reserve line of trenches were the guns, and the great preliminary objective of every offensive, Allied or German, was to reach the gun line. For the war was essentially an artillery war; it has been reckoned that seventy per cent of all the casualties came from shells, compared with thirty per cent from bullets.


The first forty miles from the sea until just north of Ypres were held by the Belgians. The area was flooded and serious hostilities were impossible. The next ninety miles to the river Ancre were held by the British, the rest by the French. The British forces were thickly concentrated in two areas. One was the Ypres salient in Flanders, the other round the river Somme in Picardy. The infantry – some 800 battalions of 1,000 each – operated on a relief system. There were four stages. A battalion occupied its ‘sectors’ of the front line for a week – or sometimes less. (A ‘sector’ was about 300 yards in width and was held by a company.) The battalion would then move back to the support line and to the reserve line for similar periods, followed by a week of ‘rest’, out of shelling distance, usually in the area of Poperinge behind the Ypres salient or Amiens behind the Somme. The battalion would then move up again through the labyrinthine communication trenches to the front line and repeat the cycle.


Unless there was an offensive in progress – and on most of the front for most of the time there was not – the day in the trenches followed a regular routine. It began about an hour before dawn with ‘stand to’ when everyone was on the alert for enemy attack. ‘Dawn has never recovered from what the Great War did to it,’ writes Paul Fussell in his remarkable book, The Great War and Modern Memory, alluding to the new and sinister associations of that traditionally romantic and ‘poetical’ hour. If nothing happened, the troops spent their time cooking, sleeping, writing letters, cleaning weapons and learning to endure shellfire. The day ended with another ‘stand to’ at sunset – not that an attack was expected then, rather it was an opportunity to catch enemy patrols, working parties, ration parties, etc., which had set out too early. For it was after dark that the real work began of digging saps, repairing wire, revetting trench walls, and reinforcing parapets. Moreover, supplies of every sort, ammunition, food, weapons, had to be brought up by night and the same applied to the process of relief and rotation of the front line units themselves. Then there were night patrols and raiding parties. And the night ended with the dawn ‘stand to’ once again.


British trenches compared badly with those of the French and even worse with the enemy’s. The Germans were basically on the defensive (though Verdun was to be a disagreeable reminder that they could attack too), and they made themselves as comfortable as possible since they were there to stay. The ‘luxury’ of their trenches astonished British troops who captured some sections in the battle of the Somme. Their dugouts, clean, dry and reasonably sanitary, were often as much as thirty feet deep with bunks, cupboards, boarded walls and electric light. By contrast the British trenches had an appearance of squalid improvisation – partly a product of the ‘offensive spirit’ which was orthodox military doctrine and dictated that they were temporary jumping-off places for ‘the great breakthrough’. The trenches were all the more unpleasant because the level of the water table in both the Somme and the Ypres areas was especially high where the British lines ran. Duckboards with a sump below for drainage were a necessity in every trench, but the water often rose to thigh level or higher and only a lucky few had adequate waders. Mud was the word engraved on the hearts of those who fought and suffered in these dismal campaigns. Old hands argued whether that of Ypres or the Somme was worse. Both were terrible, and those who knew their Milton must often have thought of ‘that Serbonian bog where armies whole have sunk’.


According to one calculation there were 6,000 miles of trenches on the British front alone. It is strange to think of this semi-subterranean world with its turnover of millions of young men who saw little but brown earth walls, crumbling or sodden, and a narrow slice of enigmatic ever-changing sky. Apart from the fear of death or mutilation, the worst feature of the front was the stench of decaying corpses, human or animal, supplemented by that of poison gas. One could smell the front a mile or more away. It was not only the dead bodies in no man’s land. The trenches themselves were partly faced in their walls and parapets by these fearful fragmenting reminders of mortality, and were filled with the rats that fed on them – large, black, bold and fierce. Another odious feature of trench life was the ubiquitous louse which infested clothing and, despite all efforts, was virtually uneliminable. The slang phrase, ‘lousy with’ meaning ‘full of’ – e.g. ‘Oxford is lousy with tourists’ – significantly dates from 1915. Rotting corpses, huge rats, verminous clothes, fear, stink, mud, filth, cold and wet – these were to be the principal memories of those who fought in this seemingly interminable war.


Although many previous wars lasted much longer, none has given quite the same impression of going on for ever. This sense of endlessness emerges again and again from the writings published or unpublished, contemporary or retrospective, of the participants. R. H. Mottram in The Spanish Farm, one of the great novels of the war, makes a gloomy officer calculate that at the rate of progress up to the summer of 1917, it would take the Allied armies 180 years to reach the Rhine. Another feature which differentiated this from nearly every other war in British history was the ease with which the transition could be made from the squalor of the front to the comforts of home. In the Second World War Britain was itself a part of the theatre of operations, suffering from the blackout, rationing, austerity and bombing. Moreover, the troops for the most part were fighting far away and got little home leave. In the Great War by contrast, civilian life remained till a late stage remarkably normal and there was regular leave from a front only seventy miles away; one could breakfast in the trenches and, if able to afford it, dine that night at the Café Royal. The cross-Channel boats were efficient, the post arrived on time bringing hampers which were seldom spoiled in transit. Belgian and French newspaper boys sold the Daily Mail at the entrance to the communication trenches.


This proximity of civilian to military life did not bridge the gulf of incomprehension that lay between the two. Paradoxically it may have widened it. How could one explain what the western front was really like to parents, sisters, wives, fiancées living in all the normality of peacetime? And what was the point of doing so? A tacit conspiracy of silence enveloped the reality of war, and it was certainly not illuminated by the war correspondents who saw little of battle anyway, and deemed it their duty, even if censorship had not existed, to keep what they did see to themselves. It was to be many years beyond Armistice Day before the British public began to learn something of what lay behind the stylized language of official communiqués and the fatuous double-speak of the journalists.
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The offensive in Picardy, usually called the battle of the Somme, opened on 1 July 1916. It was Britain’s principal military effort of the year. The broad strategy of which it was a part had been settled on 5 December 1915 at the Conference  of Chantilly attended by the principal Allied Commanders-in-Chief or their representatives. The plan was to launch simultaneous major offensives on the Russian, Italian and Western fronts. The date was not precisely fixed, but there was agreement that it could not be before the summer, by which time, it was hoped, sufficient ammunition would be accumulated and the new Kitchener armies adequately trained. Haig would have preferred to attack further north in Flanders, but one of the many fateful implications of the Continental strategy agreed in the ‘military conversations’ of 1906 was that the British High Command had to conform with the French plans. The British Army was on a voluntary basis till January 1916 and was much smaller than the French conscript forces. A large part of France was in the hands of the enemy. In these circumstances Joffre was certain to call the tune.


Joffre plumped for the Somme for a bad reason; he believed – unjustly – that a joint attack launched from the point where the British and French lines came together was the only way of ensuring British cooperation. His original plan involved using twenty-five British divisions north, and the same number of French divisions south of the river. But on 21 February 1916 the Germans started a major offensive at Verdun which sucked in ever increasing numbers of French divisions for many months. It was ultimately contained, but the plans for the Somme were thrown into disarray. In the end the French attacked on a smaller front with only five divisions, but their gunnery and assault techniques were better than those of their allies.


The Somme was thus a predominantly British affair. Its effects were to condition much of Britain’s later history in war and peace; for the first two days (1 and 2 July) saw one of the greatest disasters in British military experience. On the first day alone there were nearly 60,000 casualties of whom 21,000 were dead – or ‘missing’. It was a disaster to a particular and unprecedented sort of army – the patriotic, enthusiastic volunteers who enlisted in Kitchener’s ‘New Army’. Despite Haig’s hopes they were not in fact properly trained by the beginning of July. The staff doctrine – probably right – was that they lacked the skill to adopt the French pattern of assault (itself far from a recipe for success): short, sharp rushes by mobile groups taking advantage of shell craters and other cover, and supporting each other by fire. Instead it was decided that the British ‘waves’ should move at a slow walk in four lines at intervals of fifty to a hundred yards behind each other towards the allocated sections of the German line – about a mile to each British division. The first ‘wave’ would take the front line trenches, the second the support trenches – and so on.


These plans presupposed a preliminary bombardment so devastating and, after the troops went ‘over the top’, a barrage (i.e. a moving curtain of artillery fire) so effective that the German defences and defenders would be obliterated. Nothing of the sort occurred. One million, out of the 1.5 million shells fired, were shrapnel – principally because at that stage of the war British factories were geared to produce little else. A hail of bullets could not cut the German wire or kill its subterranean defenders. The high explosive shells with the heavy casing needed to avoid bursting in the gun barrel were also far less effective than their weight suggested. They exploded on impact throwing up huge fountains of earth and metal, but did little damage and the amount of explosive was relatively small. Thirty tons of them descended on every square mile bombarded during the nine-day run-up to 1 July. This sounds a lot, but in Normandy in 1944 the figure was 800 tons – mostly bombs with a far thinner casing and higher explosive; and yet plenty of Germans survived to fire at the Allied tank columns.2


The barrage too was relatively unsuccessful. Fifteen months later British gunners could lay down a ‘creeping barrage’ so accurately that men could advance behind this lethal, thunderous, swirling cloud as close as twenty-five yards away, while it moved at their own pace towards the enemy line. In 1916 the operation was far too chancy. The barrage ‘lifted’ in pre-programmed jerks of several hundred yards and the troops prudently waited till the next jerk before moving. In theory the ‘programme’ could be changed by orders from the forward observation officers who moved up with the attacking troops. In practice this was impossible. Telephone wires laid hastily by hand over the surface of no man’s land behind the advancing infantry were soon cut by a curtain of fire from the German artillery whose communications with their own front line were largely undamaged and who wrought at least as much damage on the attack as the machine-gunners. The barrage would often rumble on irrevocably into the middle distance leaving the troops to face German strong points still not eliminated. The difficulty of knowing what was happening after the assault waves disappeared into the dust and smoke is a feature of the battle which cannot be overemphasized. It largely explains the ignorance of GHQ. Haig reckoned that there were 40,000 casualties in two days – bad enough, but far short of the true and terrible figure.


After the barrage lifted, the battle was largely a race between the attackers across no man’s land and the defenders up their scaling ladders, the goal being the machine-gun emplacements on the German parapets. Since on that sweltering summer day each British soldier carried 66 lb of equipment, half his own weight (Liddell Hart comments that even army mules were expected to carry only a third of theirs), and was instructed to walk at a slow pace in line, the ‘race’ was one which the defenders usually won. The attack began at 7.30 A.M. It ought to have begun at dawn, but the French, whose artillery power was much greater, insisted on the later time for observation purposes. The result was a fiasco. Although the French attained their objectives, largely because they were far more experienced but also because the Germans had not expected them to attack at all, the British gained little ground and suffered enormous losses.


The ‘battle’ did not end until November amidst mud, cold and rain. Territorially Allied gains were negligible. But that is not the whole story. The untried amateur army did manage to learn from experience; casualties continued to be heavy, but not on the scale of 1 July. Moreover, it is too often forgotten that the Germans also suffered immense losses; the campaign was one of counter-attack as well as attack. At the end, the German Army was as exhausted as its opponents. The numerical balance of casualties has been one of perpetual dispute ever since. The British, according to the Official History, suffered in round numbers 420,000, the French 300,000, the Germans 680,000. Winston Churchill reckoned, however, that the Anglo-French losses amounted to 894,000 compared to a German figure of 538,000. Each side had an axe to grind. However, Sir Charles Oman, who did not, estimated in a reply to Churchill’s World Crisis 1911–18, lower, but roughly equal losses on both sides, around 560,000. There will never be any way of settling the matter. The German official figures on which Churchill argued are known to have been deliberately underestimated for purposes of morale, but it is impossible to say by how much. Bomb damage in the Second World War destroyed a great deal of the evidence in both London and Berlin. Perhaps it does not greatly matter. The casualties on both sides were enormous but neither had any intention of giving up.
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The other famous and equally indecisive battle of 1916 occurred at sea a month before the Somme. This was Jutland on 31 May/1 June (known to the Germans as the battle of the Skagerrak). The encounter took place in the North Sea some seventy-five miles from the north-west coast of the continental peninsula of Denmark. It has caused as much controversy as the Dardanelles, the Somme or Passchendaele. Far fewer lives were lost, but the prestige of the Royal Navy was at stake; the Senior Service with its unbroken tradition of success from Trafalgar onwards found itself in retrospect very much on the defensive; the sailors of the day were perhaps more articulate than the soldiers and the resultant literature is enormous.


The complications of describing any naval battle are very great. Professor Marder, whose account is probably the most authoritative of all, takes more than 250 pages together with sixteen charts to explain the course of events.3 Jutland was the first and last full-scale battleship encounter of the 1914–18 war, fought within sight, by guns and torpedoes. Nor has there been anything quite like it since. By 1919 the air dominated events at sea. Most of the vital naval battles of the Second World War were fought by aircraft over vast distances between the combatant ships whose crews never set eyes on each other (an unusual exception being the sinking of the Scharnhorst by Admiral Fraser in December 1943). But Jutland was a contest in which the rival navies could, however dimly through mist, spray, smoke and gathering twilight, see their opponents and shoot accordingly.


There was no chance of Admiral Scheer’s High Seas Fleet voluntarily seeking an engagement with the British Grand Fleet. The latter’s superiority was overwhelming.4 Britain possessed by the eve of Jutland a total of thirty-three dreadnoughts compared with Germany’s total of eighteen. The actual force under Jellicoe’s command on 30 May 1916 included twenty-eight dreadnoughts and nine battle cruisers, whereas Scheer sailed with only sixteen dreadnoughts and five battle cruisers. The British Grand Fleet enjoyed comparable superiority in lighter craft including destroyers. The speed of the two dreadnought fleets was roughly the same, but Jellicoe had an advantage of which he was not aware; Scheer unwisely took with him at Jutland a squadron of pre-dreadnoughts whose maximum speed was 18 knots. Since he could not abandon these in battle, the Grand Fleet had an effective lead of 1.5 to 2 knots. In terms of weight of broadside Jellicoe possessed a crushing advantage of 332,360 lb against 134,216, almost two and a half to one.


This superiority was offset to some extent by certain German advantages and certain British deficiencies. The German range finders were more accurate and their gunnery technique was more effective. The armour plating of their ships was thicker especially against torpedo attacks, and the much larger number of watertight compartments below water level made German ships almost unsinkable. It is, however, a myth that British armour was ineffective, though widely believed. Throughout the whole battle there is only one clear instance of even a fragment of a projectile penetrating the vital parts of any British capital ship. Nevertheless, British ships did suffer from two serious defects not appreciated at the time. Their armour-piercing shells were weak compared with their opponents’, and their gun magazines were not properly protected against flash from bursting enemy shells – a danger enhanced by the use of an oversensitive propellant. German chemists had taken much trouble to make theirs shockproof and to keep the ignition point as high as possible. A further precaution taken on German ships was to store the charges in zinc containers, whereas the British used silk bags which provided no protection at all.


The failure of Verdun and the increasing severity of the blockade determined the German government to try and break or at least weaken the stranglehold of the British Navy. Scheer’s broad plan was to station some eighteen submarines off the naval bases from Rosyth to the Orkneys and to lure the Grand Fleet into disastrous losses. He decided on 30 May to send his battle cruisers under Admiral Hipper from Wilhelmshaven up the Danish coast. He thus hoped to bring out the British battle cruisers under Admiral Beatty. What was left of them after the U-boats had done their work would be drawn by Hipper towards Scheer’s dreadnoughts and annihilated. Jellicoe’s dreadnoughts might follow, but they too would suffer heavy losses from the U-boats on leaving the Orkneys, and in any case Scheer would be near enough to his own base to escape.


The German fleet left in the early hours of 31 May – Hipper at 1 A.M., Scheer an hour and a half later. The Admiralty was aware of German movements well before they occurred, since the German signals were regularly intercepted and deciphered. Jellicoe was warned at noon on 30 May that the High Seas Fleet would put to sea in little over twelve hours’ time. At 10.30 P.M. that night, two and a half hours before Hipper left the Jade, the Grand Fleet, including twenty-four dreadnoughts and three battle cruisers, was heading from Scapa Flow for an agreed rendezvous (if positions sixty-nine miles apart could be thus described) with Beatty’s force ninety miles west of the entrance to the Skagerrak. Beatty himself, with six battle cruisers and four dreadnoughts, cleared the Forth half an hour later. If Beatty had not spotted enemy ships by 2 P.M. the next day he was to turn north, cover the sixty-nine-miles gap and join Jellicoe.


Scheer’s U-boats failed completely. They did not sink a single ship and they were equally unsuccessful as scouts, providing no information of value. The Grand Fleet headed unscathed for its rendezvous. Jellicoe was, however, gravely misled on a vital matter. Owing to lack of cooperation between ‘Room 40’, the secret intelligence department of the Admiralty largely manned by clever civilian code-breakers, and the Operations Division which looked down on them with professional naval contempt, he was told at 12.48 P.M. on 31 May that Scheer’s flagship had been at Wilhelmshaven at 11.10 A.M. In fact Scheer had left nearly nine hours earlier, and the error was the fault of Rear-Admiral Jackson, Director of the Operations Division. Jellicoe accordingly felt no need to hurry. Within three hours Beatty sighted Hipper’s battle cruisers, and Jellicoe thereafter was understandably reluctant to believe anything from Whitehall.


Soon after 2 P.M. Beatty turned north according to orders having seen no sign of the enemy, but one of his scouts at 2.20 P.M. reported the presence of enemy cruisers to the south-east. Beatty at once swung in that direction to cut them off from their base. At 3.30 he sighted Hipper’s cruisers fourteen miles away in line ahead steaming north-west. Hipper promptly turned round to draw Beatty towards Scheer. Beatty formed into line of battle, and at 3.45 P.M. the two Admirals on roughly parallel courses opened fire at a range of 15,000 yards almost simultaneously. Beatty’s four dreadnoughts, owing to a signalling error, did not enter the fray for another twenty minutes, but with an advantage of six to five in battle cruisers he was bound to engage the enemy. The battle opened with two disasters. Hipper had the advantage of seeing the British ships silhouetted against the western sky, and the north-west breeze which blew his funnel and cordite smoke away to the leeward blew Beatty’s across his own field of vision. Just after four o’clock the Indefatigable was hit and exploded; there were only two survivors. At 4.26 the Queen Mary suffered the same fate, breaking in two and disappearing under a cloud of smoke a thousand feet high; there were twenty survivors. It was at this moment that Beatty on the bridge of his flagship, the Lion, made to his Flag-Captain (later Admiral Lord Chatfield) one of those observations which echo along the corridors of history: ‘There seems to be something wrong with our bloody ships today.’ We now know what was wrong. The loss of both was almost certainly caused by the flash of an exploding shell into the gun magazines. A quarter of a century later the same disaster occurred to the battle cruiser Hood, inflicted by the Bismarck west of Iceland in the arctic dawn of 24 May 1941 when all but three of the Hood’s crew of 1,500 perished. There is a terrible all-or-nothingness about naval battles.


Beatty, however, was still justifiably confident that he could polish off Hipper. His four dreadnoughts were now in action and he had no cause to suspect the approach of Scheer. But at 4.30 P.M. Commodore Goodenough, ‘scouting’ two or three miles ahead in the light cruiser Southampton, spotted first smoke, then masts and finally the outlines of Scheer’s sixteen dreadnoughts and six pre-dreadnoughts, about eight miles to his south-east steaming north. Beatty on getting the news at once saw that he must do to Scheer what Hipper had been trying to do to him. He turned about and headed north to draw the German dreadnoughts towards Jellicoe.


The ‘run to the north’ was successful in that Beatty inflicted more damage than he received and brought his pursuers within reach of the Grand Fleet. But in the process he exhibited what was to be one of the weaknesses of British naval technique throughout the battle – failure to pass on information. Despite repeated requests he sent no message to Jellicoe between 4.45 and 6.06 P.M. Moreover, the first message was unluckily garbled in transmission and gave the impression that the whole High Seas Fleet was out – eighteen dreadnoughts and ten pre-dreadnoughts. This was not a very great disparity in force, and the message certainly influenced Jellicoe’s later conduct for, owing to poor visibility, he never saw more than two or three of Scheer’s ships at any one time, and so had no means of knowing that the information was wrong.


By six o’clock the most critical moment of the whole war was coming near. To understand it one must know something of the naval tactics of the day. It was generally agreed that the approach to a battle should be in divisions or columns steaming parallel in line ahead (six columns of four in Jellicoe’s case) in order to present the minimum target to torpedoes; but, for the battle itself the whole fleet should ‘deploy’ into a single line ahead with the enemy ‘abeam’ so that the maximum broadside would be brought upon him. Ideally one would seek to ‘cross his “T”’, as the phrase was, i.e. put one’s line at right angles in front of his line of advance so that he could fire only with the forward turrets of his leading ships while they were exposed to the full broadsides of the cross of the ‘T’. But this would be a stroke of luck. The battle was more likely to be fought by hard pounding between two fleets steaming in line on roughly parallel courses. Given time and good visibility the Grand Fleet was bound to win such a contest.


Jellicoe knew that Scheer had deployed, but though he could hear gunfire he could not yet see the German fleet, and it was vital for him to know its distance, its bearing (i.e. direction from him) and its course as soon as possible in order to decide when and how to deploy. His six columns (he himself led the lefthand of the two centre divisions) were steaming south-east. Although it was in theory possible to deploy on one of the centre columns – and Churchill argues the case in his Jutland chapters in World Crisis 1911–18 – this was not a practical option if only because it had never been practised. The choice was between the starboard (or western) wing column and the port (or eastern). In each case the procedure was fairly simple. The column chosen to lead would go ahead on its existing course, and the others in succession would each make two right-angled turns, first in the direction of the leading column and then back again in order to follow behind it. The flagship would thus be in the middle of the line – which was agreed to be the best place – and would signal the appropriate course when the line had been formed. It was essential to carry out the manoeuvre before Scheer came within range. A fleet, even though superior, was highly vulnerable if caught in parallel columns or in the act of deployment. On the other hand, premature deployment might mean losing the chance of a decisive engagement altogether. No wonder Jellicoe, waiting for information, irritably remarked: ‘I wish someone would tell me who is firing and what they are firing at.’


When at last he got a reliable situation report it was disconcerting. He had assumed from such meagre information as he had so far received that Scheer was straight ahead of him, but the latest message correctly put the German battle fleet on his starboard bow, i.e. much further west than he had believed. This made the choice of a port or starboard deployment far more difficult. Since the two fleets were approaching obliquely and there was a gap of nearly five miles between Jellicoe’s two outer wings, his eastern column was much further from the enemy than the western column. Deployment on the latter would bring Jellicoe’s line at least 4,000 yards nearer to Scheer and thus enable him to engage the enemy sooner – an important consideration, given the lateness of the hour and the approach of dusk. On the other hand, he ran the risk of coming into range too soon and being caught by Scheer’s guns in the act of deployment – which could be fatal. Deployment on the eastern or port column would take him away from the enemy, but it would enable him to cross Scheer’s ‘T’ and put himself between the enemy and his eastern bases. It would also give him the advantage of the light, for he would be firing west and south. Scheer’s battleships would be silhouetted against a bright if hazy western sky, whereas Jellicoe’s were almost invisible to the east and north-east.


Jellicoe on the bridge of the Iron Duke had to make up his mind without delay. The rival fleets were approaching at high speed – about half a mile a minute. Visibility remained uncertain, as it had been throughout the afternoon, and was made worse by Beatty’s ships steaming across his front to take up position in the van. The noise of gunfire grew nearer. Deployment in whichever direction would take nearly twenty minutes, and the order once given was irreversible.


On no occasion in the years covered by this history did a more crucial decision have to be taken in a shorter time by a single man. The defeat of the Grand Fleet would have knocked Britain out of the war with consequences of vast significance for the country and the world. There was no comparable moment in the Second World War. As Churchill, critical in some ways of Jellicoe, wrote: ‘Jellicoe was the only man on either side who could lose the war in a single afternoon.’ At 6.14 P.M. he received a further signal confirming the position of the German fleet. One minute later he gave the momentous order to deploy to port.


Despite some eloquent criticism Jellicoe was right. If deployment to starboard had gone awry he might have lost enough battleships in a few minutes to alter the whole balance of power in the North Sea. Even if it had been achieved successfully and he had engaged Scheer ten minutes earlier, there was nothing to stop the German Admiral executing then, as he did later, the sudden about-turn, under cover of a smoke screen and torpedo attack, which extricated him from the battle. Scheer himself always believed that a British deployment to starboard would have played into his hands. As things went, he received the shock of his life when he encountered the entire British fleet ahead of him across his line of advance in a great arc from north-west to north-east blazing away from the murk at his own clearly silhouetted ships. There was no option but to flee, and at 6.33 P.M.  Scheer gave the order, though not before inflicting yet another blow on the British when the flagship of the 3rd Battle Cruiser Squadron, the Invincible, exploded with the loss of Admiral Hood and over a thousand men.


The story need not be pursued in detail. Scheer successfully disengaged amid smoke and mist to the west. The neat diagrams of naval historians tend to make one forget the fog of war. Jellicoe now set course to the south to cut off Scheer from his base. The German Admiral some half hour later turned back to the east and, whether by accident or design, headed for the centre of the Grand Fleet. His ‘T’ was again crossed, and again he had to turn about in order to escape catastrophe. Darkness soon fell. A series of indeterminate night engagements fought mainly by destroyers ensued. What really mattered was for Jellicoe to prevent Scheer reaching safety before dawn. He wrongly guessed that Scheer would head for the Ems, but a series of vital Admiralty intercepts, which would have shown that he was heading south-east for Horns Reef were, apart from one, never passed on to Jellicoe. Had he seen all of them or even a few he would have realized what was happening. Equally blameworthy were his own ships engaged in night action astern of him. Some were well aware of the presence of German battleships, but not a single report reached the Iron Duke. This failure, endemic in the navy at that time, accounted for Jellicoe steaming on southwards in the belief that Scheer was to his north-west when in fact the German Admiral had crossed his course astern and was rapidly reaching safety. By dawn on 1 June the High Seas Fleet was out of danger and when Jellicoe learned of this at 3.30 A.M. he had no option but to return to base.


Like that of the Somme the balance sheet of Jutland has been a subject of perennial dispute. On the material side there can be no argument. The British lost fourteen ships with a total tonnage of 111,000. The German figures were eleven and 62,000. In terms of casualties, too, the British were the losers, 6,784 compared with 3,058. In terms of ships ready to continue fighting the story is different. Eight British compared with ten German capital ships were damaged; in proportionate terms this was a heavy debit for the High Seas Fleet. At the end of the day Jellicoe had twenty-four dreadnoughts and battle cruisers ready to take to sea again at once, whereas Scheer had only ten. The German Admiral might order champagne to be served on the conning bridge of his flagship as he put into the Jade at noon on 1 June, but privately he knew that Jutland was not a victory in the only sense that mattered. Jellicoe still commanded the sea.


Nevertheless, British opinion was not satisfied. The battle had shown up the Royal Navy’s technology as inferior to the German. These defects were, it is true, soon recognized and remedied. Comparisons suggest that, if Jutland had been exactly repeated in 1918, six German capital ships would have been sunk, but this was not a thought which could console anyone in 1916. A bitter controversy also arose over tactics, the verve of Beatty being contrasted with the caution of Jellicoe. There is little reason to believe that Jellicoe was over-prudent or to suppose that, if Beatty had been Commander-in-Chief, he would have annihilated Scheer. Critics forget that where fleets are of roughly equal speed, it is virtually impossible to bring to action an enemy determined to avoid it. Nelson was a commander of genius, but there would have been no Trafalgar if Villeneuve had behaved like Scheer.




Notes


1 Quoted in Martin Gilbert, Winston S. Churchill III (1971), 227.


2 See John Keegan, The Face of Battle (1976), 237–40.


3 Arthur J. Marder, From Dreadnought to Scapa Flow III (2nd ed. 1978).


4 See Marder, ibid II (1965), 436–40 for figures which follow.






















Chapter Three


THE SECOND WAR COALITION
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Throughout 1916 Asquith’s coalition moved from crisis to crisis. It finally fell, unregretted, at the end of the year. The early months were convulsed by a series of intense disputes about conscription. It seems strange that this obvious measure had not been enacted earlier. But a hard core of Liberals bitterly opposed it and the Conservatives at first hesitated because Kitchener, who certainly could not be accused of being a Liberal, remained surprisingly wedded to the voluntary system. He changed his mind by the end of 1915. Eventually a limited measure was passed, obliging single men of eighteen to forty-one to ‘attest’ – i.e. agree to serve when called upon – but even that caused Sir John Simon to resign, and three other Liberal ministers nearly followed him. The great wartime issue of freedom against organization could not have been more stark. Clearly, matters would not be left at that. Lloyd George was a strong conscriptionist. So too was Bonar Law, though he hesitated to break up the government until an Army Council memorandum convinced him that universal conscription was vital. Asquith introduced the Bill on 2 May. No one resigned and only thirty-seven MPs voted against it.


Meanwhile, momentous events occurred in Ireland, which have cast a long shadow from that day to this. On 22 April Sir Roger Casement, a renegade British subject, was landed by a U-boat in Kerry. On the same day the navy seized a vessel packed with German arms off the Irish coast. Two days later on Easter Monday a rebellion broke out in Dublin. Sinn Fein forces seized a number of public buildings, and P. H. Pearse proclaimed himself President of the Irish Republic. The rising was quelled only after a week of fighting. There were considerable casualties on both sides and a large part of the city centre went up in flames. Several of the captured leaders were court-martialled and shot. Casement was later prosecuted and hanged. He had in fact landed in Ireland to stop the rebellion but his treasonable conduct in Germany was indisputable.


The Easter Rebellion was at first repudiated by many Irishmen. Whether it would have remained discredited if the dead rebels had not furnished the blood of martyrdom can never be proved. Perhaps clemency might have paid dividends, but at the height of a desperate war it would have been indeed quixotic to spare the lives of those who had led a rebellion in the full knowledge of the consequences. Whatever the ‘might-have-beens’, the executions did in fact give Sinn Fein that legend, inspiration and emotion which are the stuff of almost every nationalist movement. Modern Eire dates from Easter Monday 1916.


The danger of Sinn Fein pre-empting the moderate Nationalists was obvious. To avoid it Lloyd George was deputed to negotiate with Redmond and Carson a plan for the suspended Home Rule Bill to come into force at once, the six Ulster counties being excluded till the end of the war. As so often he was too clever by half, and neither the northern nor southern Irish leader felt they had been fairly treated. Moreover, he was stirring a hornets’ nest. The Conservative diehards were furious, and, although Bonar Law at first acquiesced, he jibbed at the preservation of a hundred Westminster MPs for an overrepresented Ireland. Why should they be able to settle ‘British’ domestic issues, even the colour of a British government, after getting Home Rule? The argument, familiar much later in the context of Scottish devolution, proved conclusive. Redmond would not give way and the issue was shelved early in July. The government’s precarious unity survived.


Before this there occurred the most important change in the Cabinet since its formation in May 1915. On 5 June, the cruiser Hampshire, conveying Kitchener on a mission to Russia, struck a mine off the Orkneys. He was drowned along with his staff and most of the crew. The War Office was now vacant and the obvious claimants were Bonar Law and Lloyd George. They discussed the matter with each other, not very cordially, and agreed on Lloyd George. Asquith reluctantly acquiesced; he had no choice, but Lloyd George was now a more formidable rival than ever and the alliance developing between him and Bonar Law, uneasy and intermittent though it was, boded no good for the Prime Minister’s own position. Six months later it was to be fatal.


The second half of 1916 brought increasing dissatisfaction with the progress of the war. There was the Somme with its huge casualties directly affecting for the first time a high proportion of British families. There was Jutland. There was the renewed U-boat campaign of the autumn which took a heavy toll of merchant shipping. Tsarist Russia’s last great effort – General Brusilov’s breakthrough in Galicia, which seemed the only gleam of light that summer – petered out with heavy losses. Its superficial success brought Romania into the war on the Allied side on 27 August, but Austro–German forces rapidly overran the country entering Bucharest on 6 December and securing valuable resources of grain and oil for the central powers.


All this began to rub off on the government. Disenchantment with Asquith’s style and method grew in Parliament, the press and other areas of informed opinion. Until the summer there had been little criticism. He had many qualities – clarity of mind, ‘unflappability’, patience, integrity. He was a firm ‘Westerner’ and he was respected by the top soldiers and sailors. Prime Minister for a longer continuous period than anyone since Lord Liverpool, he seemed almost indispensable – a symbol indeed of national unity. But he was getting tired, and the death in action of his beloved elder son, Raymond, in September was a grievous blow. Moreover, like other Prime Ministers who have managed successfully in peace – the younger Pitt, Lord Aberdeen, Neville Chamberlain – his temperament was not suited to the demands of war. He was conservative in all matters concerning his office. He regarded the popular newspapers with a dislike which was reciprocated; he made no concessions to Lord Northcliffe who as owner of The Times and the Daily Mail could speak to both ‘the classes’ and ‘the masses’, and who controlled half the circulation of the London press in an era when radio was unknown. In wartime, a friend told Asquith, it is not only necessary to be active, it is necessary to seem active. Asquith, the antithesis of a showman, refused to seem active. He had another foible that did not go unnoticed. Haig, who liked him, might write in his diary after Asquith’s fall: ‘I am personally very fond of poor old Squiff. He had a hard time and even when “exhilarated” had much more capacity and brain power than any of the others.’ But there were those who took a less tolerant view of ‘exhilaration’. At the opposite extreme was Churchill. He was no teetotaller, but he had a grievance. He wrote bitterly to his brother in the summer: ‘Asquith reigns sodden, supine and supreme.’


By November a number of influential figures were convinced that the government could not go on as it was. Milner, widely respected in Conservative circles as a great proconsul, was one. Carson was another. Since his resignation he had been using his destructive genius to lead the informal opposition in Parliament. At times he seemed to be vying with Bonar Law for the ‘soul’ of the Conservative Party. Northcliffe, who operated quite independently, was a third. All three believed that Asquith should go. But they did not oppose Robertson and Haig or the policy of concentration on the western front. They wanted to get rid of Asquith because they thought he did not give the soldiers a sufficiently free hand. Lloyd George too was a strong advocate of change, but he did not wish to oust Asquith. Chafing under the restrictions of the Kitchener-Robertson treaty, which he had hoped but failed to remove, he wanted to have a say in strategy. He was a confirmed ‘Easterner’ still, and he deeply distrusted the tactics of Haig and his commanders even in terms of a ‘Western’ strategy. If he could acquire a position which would at least give him some control over the generals he did not mind if Asquith stayed on as Prime Minister. Indeed he regarded him as an asset.


Milner, Carson and Northcliffe could not have brought Asquith down on their own, even if they had been in agreement. The essential ingredient of any compound sufficiently explosive to do this was Bonar Law, and at the beginning of November he was not on cordial terms with any of the others. The catalyst was another newspaper proprietor, Sir Max Aitken, MP, owner of the Daily Express (not in those days, however, a paper of any significance). He was a self-made Canadian millionaire and, though much younger, an intimate friend of Bonar Law who was himself of Canadian birth. By a remarkable combination of charm, persuasion, manoeuvre and cajolery, he brought Lloyd George, Bonar Law and Carson together during the second half of November. The proposal which they decided to put to Asquith was a change in the ‘decision-making process’ – the creation of a War Council, small in number (the final version was three), sitting from day to day with real powers to act and with Lloyd George as chairman. The Prime Minister was not to be a member, the excuse being that he would be too busy with other things (no one said what), but he would be entitled to call in any decision to which he objected and refer it to the Cabinet as a whole.


There was a genuine administrative point here, and Asquith ought to have changed the 1915 system long before. But the real issue was personal. It was a transparent device to sidestep the Prime Minister and vest the only area of government business that mattered in a triumvirate consisting of Lloyd George who was his chief Liberal rival, Bonar Law for whom he had little respect, and Carson who was one of his sharpest critics. Asquith saw what was intended quickly enough and, when Lloyd George put it to him on 1 December, he gave a polite but firm refusal. He had no objection to some measure of reorganization, but he insisted on the Prime Minister being chairman of the War Council. If personalities could be ignored, Asquith was right. The arrangement was a constitutional absurdity. Personalities, however, were what the crisis was all about. If Asquith insisted that the Prime Minister must be chairman of the War Council, Lloyd George and Bonar Law were going to insist that the Prime Minister must not be Asquith.


In the end they got their way. After five days of complicated manoeuvres which would take as many pages to recount as it took hours to occur (the volume of literature on the subject is already vast), Asquith resigned on 6 December and Lloyd George became Prime Minister. The episode caused lasting resentment in the Liberal Party and almost all the Liberal ministers followed Asquith. It was the origin of a split which was never healed while both the rivals were alive. Inevitably, the new government was predominantly Conservative.


Lloyd George at once dropped his original proposals for reorganization. Nothing more was heard of the impossibility of the Prime Minister being chairman of the War Council. That problem and the relationship of the council with the Cabinet were solved by merging them into a ‘War Cabinet’. It consisted of Lloyd George, Bonar Law who became Chancellor of the Exchequer, Arthur Henderson who represented Labour, Curzon and Milner who was a last minute substitute for Carson. The two latter gave a high independent tone to the Cabinet for, though respected by the Conservatives, they did not in any sense depend on the party. Full ministerial and constitutional responsibility lay with the War Cabinet and with that body alone. Carson as First Lord of the Admiralty, Robertson as Chief of Staff, and Balfour whose acceptance of the Foreign Office had staggered Asquith and greatly eased Lloyd George’s path, had the right to attend when their business was being discussed. Other ministers came only if summoned. Sir Maurice Hankey, Secretary to the former War Committee became Secretary to the Cabinet, a new office. For the first time there was a regular agenda and minutes were recorded – innovations which became permanent features of the constitution.


Lloyd George’s position was in some ways weak and paradoxical. He could claim no ‘mandate’. He had risen to power through a process obscure to Parliament, to the public – and in some details even to historians. He was an ‘Easterner’ helped into office by ‘Westerners’. Since Asquith retained the Liberal leadership, organization and funds, he was a Prime Minister without a party. He was a Liberal whose principal support came from Conservatives and was far from whole-hearted. Yet he had important assets. He soon forged a genuine friendship with Bonar Law, described by Stanley Baldwin as ‘the most perfect partnership in political history’. He had eloquence, energy, ebullience, gaiety, resourcefulness and a deep disrespect for establishments of every kind. He was a fresh wind blowing through Whitehall. And he was not Asquith.
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Lloyd George was at last unfettered, anyway in theory; but in practice he was not going to find it easy to escape the commitment made by Kitchener in August 1915. It is true that the War Cabinet – particularly the ‘Imperial War Cabinet’ which was the same body enlarged by the dominion Prime Ministers when they were in London – was sympathetic. ‘Eastern’ strategy was in one sense better than ‘Western’ for the empire. Milner and Curzon were imperially minded. The dominion Prime Ministers did not want anything like Milner’s Federal Empire, but they were highly critical of the squandering, as they saw it, of dominion lives in France by the British High Command and on this point struck up an alliance with Lloyd George. But even the most empire-minded person had to face the dilemma of British policy ably analysed by Michael Howard.1 How was a great industrialized military state like Germany to be prevented from wrecking the empire by advancing right across Asia to India unless its strength was tied down in the west? The problem became even graver with the gradual disintegration of Russia after the revolution of March 1917.


Moreover, the War Cabinet was not typical of general British opinion. By the end of 1916 ‘Western’ strategy had acquired an almost irreversible momentum of its own. The military establishment was solidly behind it – even a maverick like Sir Henry Wilson was not an ‘Easterner’. The Asquithian Liberals agreed with them. The press too was universally pro-‘Western’. Against these forces Lloyd George could do little. He did remove the ban that had existed since the end of 1915 on offensive operations in the Middle East, authorizing advances up the Tigris and into Palestine. The results of the latter were not seen till the end of the year. The former brought an immediate gain – General Maude’s capture in March 1917 of Baghdad known engagingly by the troops as the ‘City of Haroun-Al-Rothschild’. But their expectations of the pleasures of The Thousand and One Nights were to be disappointed. One could not even get a glass of beer in the place. These campaigns did not of course mean a strategic switch from west to east, nor was Lloyd George ever able to achieve it. The most he could do was to try to make his particular views prevail within the general framework of a ‘Western’ strategy. His first attempt had unhappy results.


Haig and Joffre on 15 November 1916 at the Conference of Chantilly had agreed on a plan for 1917 involving a renewed offensive on the Somme early in February with the British taking the main burden. In December, however, a political crisis similar to that in London erupted in Paris. Briand, the French Prime Minister, quicker off the mark than Asquith, reconstructed his government into a ‘war cabinet’, and for good measure sacked his Commander-in-Chief. Joffre’s successor, General Nivelle, hero of Verdun, had great charm and spoke perfect English. He captivated Lloyd George and he convinced politicians in both countries that he had the secret of success. The soldiers were not so sure.


Nivelle’s proposal was to attack in great force on the Aisne in April. The British role was to be subsidiary – a diversionary attack by Allenby’s 3rd Army at Arras seventy-five miles north-west. Lloyd George disliked ‘Western’ offensives of any sort, but this one had the advantage of laying the burden on the apparently willing French, and he saw an opportunity. With the connivance of Briand and Nivelle he resolved to curb Haig by putting the British Army under French command. At the Conference of Calais on 26 February 1917, called ostensibly to discuss transport, his proposal was sprung on Haig and Robertson without previous warning. In its original form it would have sidetracked Haig entirely, leaving him with responsibility only for administration while Nivelle would have had direct command of the separate British armies, through a British Chief of Staff – and Sir Henry Wilson was the name proposed. Haig and Robertson were horrified and protested so strongly that the plan was modified. Haig was now to come under Nivelle only for the duration of the actual offensive and retain command of his armies with the right of appeal to the Cabinet. But neither he nor Robertson ever forgave Lloyd George. It was the origin of a mutual mistrust which bedevilled their relations for the rest of the war.


Nor was Lloyd George’s confidence in Nivelle justified. The British attack in snow and sleet at Arras on 9 April met with a limited degree of success including the Canadian capture of Vimy Ridge. Nivelle’s offensive launched a week later was a fiasco. In two days his armies suffered 100,000 casualties and advanced 600 yards. The French soldiers had now had enough. There were widespread mutinies and desertions. Nivelle was replaced by the cautious Pétain who restored order after one month and twenty-three executions (not a large number in the circumstances), chiefly by tact, attention to grievances and the unspoken message that there would be no more offensives.


A major strategic problem now faced the War Cabinet. Was the British Army also to stay on the defensive for the rest of the year? Or should it, as Haig urged, launch a major attack to roll up the German right flank, and seize the Belgian coast with its U-boat bases? There were powerful arguments both ways. The Allies were passing through a desperate period of the war. The U-boat campaign in the last four months of 1916, even in its ‘restricted’ form, had already doubled the average monthly losses in Allied and neutral merchant shipping from 75,000 to 158,000 tons. The Admiralty seemed powerless even then. On hearing a list of losses Balfour was heard to murmur: ‘It is very tiresome. These Germans are intolerable.’ The number of U-boats in service rose during 1916 from 58 to 140. The situation became even worse when, in February 1917, the German government made the campaign ‘unrestricted’. The decision to torpedo at sight raised Allied and neutral losses to the terrifying figure of 852,000 tons in April. It also brought America into the war on 6 April, but Germany could ignore that threat if losses on this scale continued; Britain would be starved out before America could make any difference. In fact April was the nadir. The turning point was the initiative of the convoy system in May, largely at Lloyd George’s insistence, though it is a myth that he did it single-handed. Nor could it have been introduced much earlier if only because of the shortage of destroyers. By August 1917 monthly losses were down to 200,000 tons, and the worst was over.


This was not self-evident on 20 June when the decision to allow Haig to attack in the west was taken. Jellicoe, now First Sea Lord, was very pessimistic, and did not appreciate that the Germans in fact made little use of Belgian ports for U-boats. Haig’s main argument, however, was that ‘the German was now nearly at his last resources’ and that an offensive could ‘effect great results … which will make final victory more assured and which may even bring it within reach this year’. He was also influenced by the state of the French forces, informed as he had been about the mutinies in strictest confidence by Pétain; he did not pass this on to the War Cabinet, but the prevention of a German attack on the French sector was certainly a consideration in his mind. Lloyd George did all he could to dissuade Haig. If there was to be any offensive he preferred to reinforce the Italian front. The War Cabinet was divided, but in the end felt it could not overrule the Commander-in-Chief. On 31 July after ten days’ bombardment the third battle of Ypres began. It is known to posterity as Passchendaele.


The campaign has been the subject of perpetual dispute ever since. It achieved none of Haig’s declared objectives, and at last became bogged down (literally) on 10 November with the capture of Passchendaele. Conditions were appalling. Men fought in a quagmire produced partly by perpetual rain which, it is both alleged and denied, was predictable, and partly by the effect of the bombardment on the dykes built to prevent flooding. The grey weeping skies, the continuous downpour, the ubiquitous, unfathomable mud left a scar in the national memory. There is a nightmare quality about Passchendaele which nothing will erase. Haig could and perhaps should have cried off after the failure of his first blow, 31 July to 2 August. He certainly ought to have called it a day after taking the main ridge east of Ypres on 4 October. Yet one has to remember that, heavy though British casualties were, enemy losses were not much less. The Germans had to endure the same fearful conditions. To them too it was a nightmare experience. It is easy to forget that in the trench warfare on the western front the defenders suffered almost as heavily as the attackers, and one cannot measure the result only by miles lost or gained. It is not certain which side was weakened most. Had there been no Passchendaele, would the British have been better placed to resist the offensive of March 1918 or the Germans to exploit their early successes? No clear answer ever has been – perhaps ever can be – given to this question. Nor to another: did Passchendaele avert a German offensive against the demoralized French Army?


Long before the end Lloyd George became convinced that the campaign was a disaster; he was determined that there should be no repetition. The striking but transient success of General Byng’s tanks at Cambrai on 20 November – the first large-scale use of a weapon destined to transform the art of war – merely confirmed his opinion of British generalship; if Passchendaele had not occurred Byng might have had the reserves to exploit his initial breakthrough. The Prime Minister’s difficulty was that he still dared not get rid of the Haig–Robertson partnership. His problem was how to avoid taking their advice without provoking their resignations. The Calais Conference had been the first round in his fight with the military hierarchy, and he had lost it. He now prepared for a second round. His approach was to be even more circuitous than it had been at Calais.


Meanwhile, one gleam of light shone out in the gathering gloom of autumn. This was General Allenby’s capture of Jerusalem, the opening stage in the second of the two ‘side-shows’ which were to shape the post-war empire (Mesopotamia being the first). Allenby, nicknamed ‘the Bull’, was one of the most remarkable generals of the war. With his thick neck, florid complexion and explosive temper – officers were known to faint in his presence – he seemed a caricature of the archetypal military man. In fact he was nothing of the sort. It is true that he was doctrinally a ‘Westerner’, though he did not much like Haig or approve of his tactics, especially the prolonged artillery bombardments which heralded every attack. It is also true that when he was asked to take command of the Egyptian Expeditionary Force sweating lethargically amidst the flies and heat of the Sinai desert opposite the Turkish Gaza Line, he felt at first that he was taking a step down. But he was cheered by the enthusiasm of Lloyd George who presented him with Sir George Adam Smith’s Historical Geography of the Holy Land (typically Allenby already had a copy) and he resolved to accept the challenge.


Behind his exterior, Allenby, though not quick, was highly intelligent, very thoughtful and extremely well read. He took an avid interest in the fauna, flora, topography and history of the area. What other general would have discovered that Richard Coeur de Lion failed to take Jerusalem because he chose the malarial season for his advance, or investigated the reasons for the ophthalmia which blinded so many of Napoleon’s soldiers in Egypt in 1798–1801, or studied in the original Greek Strabo’s account of the ancient route through the Sinai desert? And what other commander-in-chief would have put up with the exhibitionism of T. E. Lawrence ‘of Arabia’ – a mere major posturing in Arab clothes?


Allenby, to the surprise of his staff, saw that there was real use to be made of this eccentric figure. Lawrence’s part in the Arab Revolt in the Hejaz begun by Hussein Sherif of Mecca in June 1916 and his single-handed capture of Akaba may have been moves towards his unrealistic goal of creating an Arab state based on Damascus under Hussein’s son, Feisal. Allenby did not care. The politicians would sort out the post-war partition of the Ottoman Empire. An Arab guerrilla campaign led by Lawrence and directed against the thousand-mile railway from Damascus to Medina would tie down a disproportionate number of Turks and disrupt their communications. The distortions and omissions discovered by later critics in Lawrence’s own account of his role should not blind one to the fact that nearly everyone personally involved regarded it as a highly important element in British success during 1917 and 1918.


Allenby, though almost broken by the death of his only son in France, launched his attack late in October after elaborate preparation and deception. The German commander of the Turkish forces expected an attack along the coast, whereas Allenby put his whole weight against their left flank at Beersheba. It was completely successful, and there seemed a real chance of taking Jerusalem. At this juncture the British government made an important announcement whose full consequences they could scarcely have foreseen. It took the form of an open letter on 9 November from the Foreign Secretary to Lord Rothschild, the leader of English Jewry. The Balfour Declaration stated that the government favoured ‘the establishment in Palestine of a national home for the Jewish people’.
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